Aug 31 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellant Case No.: 2023-000888

Case No. 2023-CP-26-01112

Michael Isom.....Appellant,

v.

Town of Atlantic Beach Municipal
Election Commission.....Respondent.

APPELLANT’S FINAL BRIEF

Charles J. Boykin (SC Bar #65149)
Kenneth A. Davis (SC Bar #66416)
Tierney F. Goodwyn (SC Bar #102035)

P. O. Box 11844
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
Telephone: 803-254-0707
Facsimile: 803-254-5609

cjboykin@boykinlawsc.com
kdavis@boykinlawsc.com
tgoodwyn@boykinlawsc.com

Counsel for Appellant

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THERE EXISTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO UPHOLD THE DECISION OF THE MUNICIPAL ELECTION COMMISSION

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 2, 2023, Michael Isom brought this action before the Court asserting error of election confirmation against the Town of Atlantic Beach Municipal Election Commission (MEC).

The Town of Atlantic Beach held a Special Election on January 17, 2023, as set forth in a Public Notice to fill a vacant position. No candidate received a majority vote from the Special Election, so the MEC held a runoff on January 31, 2023. A provisional ballot and canvassing hearing were held on February 2, 2023. Michael Isom filed a protest of the election and as a result of the protest, a hearing was held on February 6, 2023. The Town of Atlantic Beach MEC alleged Candidate John W. David met the qualifications of a candidate or voter in the Town of Atlantic Beach at the date of the election. At the February 6 hearing, the February 2, 2023, runoff results were confirmed by the MEC.

On February 23, 2023, Michael Isom filed a Notice of Appeal from the February 13, 2023, Order and Report of the Town of Atlantic Beach MEC. Isom filed attachments and a Memorandum of Law on April 21, 2023. The Town of Atlantic Beach MEC filed an Opposition Brief on Appeal on April 18, 2023. The Town of Atlantic Beach's Order and Report was affirmed on May 12, 2023.

On June 2, 2023, Isom served the Notice of Appeal on Town of Atlantic Beach MEC.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Town of Atlantic Beach (the “Town”) held a Special Election on January 17, 2023, and subsequent Run-off Election on January 31, 2023. (Order and Report of the Town of Atlantic Beach Municipal Election Commission, ¶5). (R. p. 2, ¶5). The Commission held a hearing on the certification of the election on February 4, 2023, in which provisional ballots and challenged ballots, including the ballot of John David, Jr. were decided. (Order and Report of the Town of Atlantic Beach Municipal Election Commission, ¶10). (R. p. 3, ¶10).

At the certification hearing, Josephine Isom challenged the residency of John David, Jr., presenting several documents suggesting that John David, Jr. was not a resident of the Town. (Isom Challenge Hearing Documents). (R. pp. 273-293). The documents presented by Josephine Isom included documentation showing:

- (1) that John David Jr. was claiming a property in Maryland as his principal residence;
- (2) that a vehicle alleged to be owned by John David, Jr. had a Maryland vehicle tag;
- (3) that the property claimed as the residence in the Town was being taxed at the six percent ratio for non-owner-occupied property;
- (4) that the vacation rental history for the property claimed as John David, Jr’s residence was rented for 80 of the 84 days between October 3, 2022, and December 26, 2022 (which includes the candidate qualification date of December 18, 2022), and for an additional 26 days between December 27, 2022, and January 21, 2023 (which includes the date of the special election on January 17, 2023); and

(5) that in the 200 days between the issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy on July 2, 2022, and the election of January 17, 2023, the property claimed as John David, Jr.'s residence was rented for 189 days.

John David, Jr., presented testimony regarding his residency, presented his driver's license, and stated that he had a "tag for his car." None of the documents referenced by John David, Jr. were included as exhibits to the certification hearing transcript. Ms. Isom noted for the record that the dates of issuance for the driver's license and vehicle registration were February 1, 2023, after the candidate qualification date. The Commission voted to accept the ballot of John David, Jr. and ultimately declared John David, Jr. as the official winner. (Order and Report of the Town of Atlantic Beach Municipal Election Commission, ¶29). (R. p. 7, ¶29).

Thereafter, Appellant filed a timely protest of the election results. (Election Protest Hearing Transcript, Exhibit B). (R. pp. 228-230). This election protest went before the Commission at the Election Protest Hearing noticed and held on February 6, 2023, at 4:00 p.m. (Order and Report of the Town of Atlantic Beach Municipal Election Commission, ¶12) (R. p. 3, ¶12). Interested parties present at the hearing were Candidates Michael Isom and John David. Candidate Lenny Evans was not present. (Order and Report of the Town of Atlantic Beach Municipal Election Commission, p. 1, unnumbered ¶). (R. p.1)

Prior to the commencement of testimony at the protest hearing and after an Executive Session to receive legal advice, the Commission, on its own motion, entered four exhibits into evidence: Exhibit A included a copy of the agenda for the protest hearing, the protest letter, and proof of service of the protest letter; Exhibit B was a copy of the Town's election ordinance; Exhibit C included a copy of the public notices for the election; and Exhibit D was a copy of the

statement of candidacy for all of the candidates in the election. (Order and Report of the Town of Atlantic Beach Municipal Election Commission, ¶14). (R. p. 4, ¶ 14).

During the protest hearing, Appellant offered Ms. Josephine Isom as a witness. Ms. Isom testified as follows regarding the documents she presented at the Commission hearing (Isom Protest Documents):

MS. ISOM: Those documents were included in your package if I'm not mistaken.

MR. MONTGOMERY: Yes, but that was for certification, Ms. Isom. It was in the documents for certification. This is different today. This is a hearing.

MS. ISOM: Yes, but that document is in your package from the beginning, so I didn't think it was necessary to present it because it went into evidence the first time.

MR. MONTGOMERY: Okay. You may proceed.

(Election Protest Hearing Transcript, p. 7, Lines 23-25 and continuing on p. 8, Lines 1-3). (R. p. 209, Lines 23-25, p. 210, Lines 1-3). Mr. Montgomery did not refute this statement or otherwise object to this assertion by Ms. Isom during the hearing. Given the lack of clarity in the Commission's ruling at the protest hearing, counsel for Respondent conceded at the hearing on the Appeal to the circuit court that the entire record in the case, including the record from the February 4 protest hearing and the February 2 certification hearing, should be reviewed in this matter. (Transcript of Appeal Hearing, p.14, Lines 15-20). (R. p. 270, Lines 15-20).

At the conclusion of the protest hearing, the Commission denied Appellant's protest, thereby affirming John David as the winner. (Order and Report of the Town of Atlantic Beach Municipal Election Commission, ¶31). (R. p. 7, ¶31). The Commission found that John David submitted a statement of candidacy received on November 18, 2022, whereby he affirmed,

among other things, that “I meet, or will meet by the time of the General or Special Election or as otherwise required by law, the qualifications to hold this office. I the undersigned certify that I am a legal resident and a registered voter of the Town of Atlantic Beach, South Carolina.” (Order and Report of the Town of Atlantic Beach Municipal Election Commission, ¶27) (R. p. 6, ¶27). There was no evidence submitted to support this conclusory statement. Specifically, Candidate John David did not present any evidence at the protest hearing. (Order and Report of the Town of Atlantic Beach Municipal Election Commission, ¶16). (R. p. 4, ¶16). The Circuit Court upheld the Commission’s Decision and Order.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Normally, when exercising its appellate jurisdiction, the Court “shall review the findings of fact as well as the law.” S.C. Const. Art. V, § 5. The South Carolina Appellate Court Rules grant the State Supreme Court the authority to review any “final judgment from the circuit court pertaining to elections and election procedure.” Rule 203(d)(1)(iv), SCACR; S.C. Code Ann. § 14-8-200(b)(5). This allows the appeal to be presented directly to the South Carolina Supreme Court and bypass the South Carolina Court of Appeals.

In election cases, the Court has authority to correct errors of law; review does not extend to findings of fact unless those findings are wholly unsupported by the evidence. George v. Municipal Election Comm'n of Charleston, 335 S.C. 182, 516 S.E.2d 206 (1999). The Court will employ every reasonable presumption to sustain a contested election, and will not set aside an election due to mere irregularities or illegalities unless the result is changed or rendered doubtful. Cole v. Town of Atl. Beach Election Comm'n, 393 S.C. 264, 271-272.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN UPHOLDING THE DECISION OF THE MUNICIPAL ELECTION COMMISSION WHEN THE FINDINGS OF FACT OF THE COMMISSION ARE WHOLLY UNSUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

A. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT UPHELD THE DECISION AND ORDER OF THE MUNICIPAL ELECTION COMMISSION ESTABLISHING JOHN DAVID AS A RESIDENT, WHICH IS WHOLLY UNSUPPORTED BY THE FACTS IN THE RECORD.

The Commission erred in determining that John David was a resident of the Town when the Commission's determination that John David was a resident of the Town for thirty (30) days prior to the election is wholly unsupported by the record.

Section 5 of Article II of the South Carolina Constitution places a thirty-day residency requirement on municipal electors. Both Section 1 of Article VI of the South Carolina Constitution and Section 5-15-20 of the South Carolina Code require candidates for mayor and city council to meet the qualifications of a municipal elector. Accordingly, the thirty-day residency requirement applies to mayors and council members. To qualify as a candidate for the Town's January election on January 17, 2023, a candidate must show that he was a resident on or before December 18, 2023.

At the Certification Hearing, John David presented testimony regarding his residency and presented his driver's license and stated that he had a "tag for his car." Josephine Isom noted for the record that the dates of issuance for the driver's license and vehicle registration were February 1, 2023, which is after the election. At the Protest Hearing, the Commission, on its own, entered Exhibit D, Statement of Candidacy, into the record. Exhibit D serves as the only support for John David's residency that was considered by the Commission at the protest hearing.

S.C. Code Ann. § 7-1-25 defines the term "domicile" for the purposes of South Carolina election law, as follows:

- (A) A person's residence is his domicile. "Domicile" means a person's fixed home where he has an intention of returning when he is absent. A person has only one domicile.
- (B) For voting purposes, a person has changed his domicile if he 1) has abandoned his prior home and 2) has established a new home, has a present intention to make that place his home, and has no present intention to leave that place.
- (C) For voting purposes, a spouse may establish a separate domicile.
- (D) For voting purposes, factors to consider in determining a person's intention regarding his domicile include, but are not limited to:
 - (1) a voter's address reported on income tax returns;
 - (2) a voter's real estate interests, including the address for which the legal residence tax assessment ratio is claimed pursuant to § 12-43-220(C);
 - (3) a voter's physical mailing address;
 - (4) a voter's address on driver's license or other identification issued by the Department of Motor Vehicles;
 - (5) a voter's address on legal and financial documents;
 - (6) a voter's address utilized for educational purposes, such as public-school assignment and determination of tuition at institutions of higher education;
 - (7) a voter's address on an automobile registration;
 - (8) a voter's address utilized for membership in clubs and organizations;
 - (9) the location of a voter's personal property;
 - (10) residence of a voter's parents, spouse, and children; and
 - (11) whether a voter temporarily relocated due to medical care for the voter or for a member of the voter's immediate family.

Notably, the Statement of Candidacy is not given as an oath, as it is not notarized. The Statement of Candidacy is not self-proving of a candidate's qualifications for office. Rather, the Statement of Candidacy is only a statement of a candidate's intent to run for office. The candidate must present some evidence establishing his qualifications for holding office.

Here, although given the opportunity, there is no evidence in the record that shows that Candidate John David, Jr. provided any of the above-described *indicia* of residence set forth in the election law to support his residency on or before December 18, 2023. Additionally, at the Protest Hearing, John David did not offer any testimony, under oath, to establish his residency.

As such, there is no documentary evidence in the record supporting John David's residency, with the only evidence being his self-serving statements. John David's self-serving and conclusory statement is insufficient to establish residency.

The sparse evidence accepted on behalf of John David fails in comparison to the overwhelming evidence presented by Josephine Isom which shows that:

- (1) that John David Jr. was claiming a property in Maryland as his principal residence;
- (2) that a vehicle alleged to be owned by John David, Jr. had a Maryland vehicle tag;
- (3) that the property claimed as the residence in the Town was being taxed at the six percent ratio for non-owner-occupied property;
- (4) that the vacation rental history for the property claimed as John David, Jr's residence was rented for 80 of the 84 days between October 3, 2022, and December 26, 2022 (which includes the candidate qualification date of December 18, 2022), and for an additional 26 days between December 27, 2022, and January 21, 2023 (which includes the date of the special election on January 17, 2023); and
- (5) that in the 200 days between the issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy on July 2, 2022, and the election of January 17, 2023, the property claimed as John David, Jr's residence was rented for 189 days.

Thus, the Commission's finding that Candidate John David was a resident of the Town was wholly unsupported by the evidence when John David did not present any documentary evidence in support of his residency on or before December 18, 2023. Accordingly, the Commission erred when it determined that John David, Jr. was a resident of the Town of Atlantic Beach without identifying or finding any facts to support its determination. Because the

conclusion that John David, Jr. was a resident of the Town on or before December 18, 2023, is wholly unsupported by evidence as there are no documents in the record, other than John David Jr's self-serving statements, that show residency on or before December 18, 2023, the election must be invalidated, and a new election held as this irregularity is of the sort that renders doubtful the result of the election.

B. THE COMMISSION COMMITTED AN ERROR WHEN IT FAILED TO CONSIDER EVIDENCE PRESENTED ON BEHALF OF APPELLANT.

The Commission erred when it failed to consider documents submitted, including the Protest Letter that was presented at the February 4, 2023, canvassing hearing.

As previously stated, the Appellant presented evidence at the canvassing hearing that John David was not a resident of the Town of Atlantic Beach. The evidence presented in the documents indicated the address claimed by John David was not his legal residence, but rather the address served as John David's vacation rental property. The documents further indicated John David declared his legal residence to be in the State of Maryland.

At the hearing, Josephine Isom testified that the documents presented at the February 4th canvassing hearing were accepted by the Commission and entered into the record. Appellant relied on the statement by Commission Chairman, Joe Montgomery, who presided over the meeting. Specifically, Josephine Isom testified that the documents were included in the Commission's packet, to which Mr. Montgomery responded, "Yes, but that was for certification . . ." Ms. Isom further testified she did not believe it was necessary to present documents, as everything she would have presented had already been placed into evidence. Mr. Montgomery responded to this statement from Ms. Isom by saying, "[o]kay. You may proceed." (R. p. 210, Lines 4-8). Based upon this statement from Mr. Montgomery, Appellant believed the documents

everything she would have presented had already been placed into evidence. Mr. Montgomery responded to this statement from Ms. Isom by saying, “[o]kay. You may proceed.” (R. p. 210, Lines 4-8). Based upon this statement from Mr. Montgomery, Appellant believed the documents submitted at the February 4th canvassing hearing were accepted and would be considered by the Commission prior to a decision being made.

Mr. Montgomery distinguished the canvassing hearing and the protest hearing, he failed to rule on the issue of whether the evidence presented by Appellant’s witness was admissible. As such, Appellant relied on Mr. Montgomery’s tacit acceptance of the documents into the record.