THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Sep 11 2023

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Honorable Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-000888

Case No. 2023-CP-26-01112

Michael Isom,Appellant,

v.

Town of Atlantic Beach Municipal Election Commission,Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

Taylor K. Voegel, SC Bar No. 104770
Alicia E. Thompson, SC Bar No. 77056
Burr & Forman LLP
Post Office Box 336
Myrtle Beach, SC 29578
Phone: (843)-444-1107

Counsel for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court committed no error because evidence exists to support the Commission’s finding that John David met the qualifications of a candidate for council in the Town of Atlantic Beach.

While Appellant recites the appropriate standard of review in his brief, he abandons the standard in his argument; specifically, Appellant focuses on the supposed strength of the evidence that his mother presented at the provisional ballot and canvassing hearing on February 2, 2023 and that she referenced at the election protest hearing on February 6, 2023 rather than on whether any evidence exists to support the Commission’s finding that Mr. David met the qualifications of a candidate for council. Indeed, at each hearing, evidence existed to support the Commission’s finding, and therefore, the Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the Commission.

“There are two prerequisites to maintaining an election contest in South Carolina: (1) the contest notice must allege irregularities or illegalities; and (2) the alleged irregularities or illegalities must have changed or rendered doubtful the result of the election in the absence of fraud, a constitutional violation, [or] a statute providing that such irregularity or illegality shall invalidate the election.” *Taylor*, 363 S.C. at 16, 609 S.E.2d at 504 (quoting *Butler v. Town of Edgefield*, 328 S.C. 238, 246, 493 S.E.2d 838, 842 (1997)) (internal quotation marks omitted). Although the residency of Mr. David is an alleged irregularity that would change the result of the election if proven, the record supports the Commission’s denial of the election protest.

South Carolina Code Section 5-15-100 provides the municipal election commission with the authority to determine legal qualifications of electors. S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-100 (“The municipal election commission shall . . . supervise and conduct all municipal, special and general elections.”). South Carolina Constitution, Article VI, Section 1 and Article XVII, Section 1 provide that an elected official must meet the “qualifications of an elector,” or, stated differently, be eligible to vote for the

office he proposes to hold. S.C. Const. art. VI, § 1 (“No person may be popularly elected to and serve in any office in this State or its political subdivisions unless he possesses the qualifications or an elector”); S.C. Const. art. XVII, § 1 (“No person shall be elected or appointed to any office in this State unless he possess the qualifications of an elector”). This requirement applies to city council members: “Mayors and councilmen shall be qualified electors of the municipality and, if they are elected subject to residential or ward requirements as provided in this section, they shall be qualified electors of the ward prescribed for their election qualification.” S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-20.

To be a qualified elector in the Town of Atlantic Beach, the elector must have resided within municipal limits for at least thirty days prior to an election, and this requirement is applicable to those serving as a councilmember. S.C. Const. art. II, § 5. If the council seat represents a specific ward, then the person must have lived within that ward. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 7-5-610 to -675.

In order to determine one’s residence, this State considers one’s domicile. S.C. Code Ann. § 7-1-25(A) (“A person’s residence is his domicile. ‘Domicile’ means a person’s fixed home where he has an intention of returning when he is absent. A person has only one domicile.”).

Specifically, South Carolina Code Subsections 7-1-25(B) & (D) provide:

(B) For voting purposes, a person has changed his domicile if he (1) has abandoned his prior home and (2) has established a new home, has a present intention to make that place his home, and has no present intention to leave that place.

...

(D) For voting purposes, factors to consider in determining a person’s intention regarding his domicile include, but are not limited to:

- (1) a voter’s address reported on income tax returns;
- (2) a voter’s real estate interests, including the address for which the legal residence tax assessment ratio is claimed pursuant to Section 12-43-220(c);
- (3) a voter’s physical mailing address;

- (4) a voter's address on driver's license or other identification issued by the Department of Motor Vehicles;
- (5) a voter's address on legal and financial documents;
- (6) a voter's address utilized for educational purposes, such as public school assignment and determination of tuition at institutions of higher education;
- (7) a voter's address on an automobile registration;
- (8) a voter's address utilized for membership in clubs and organizations;
- (9) the location of a voter's personal property;
- (10) residence of a voter's parents, spouse, and children; and
- (11) whether a voter temporarily relocated due to medical care for the voter or for a member of the voter's immediate family.

Significantly, a person's intent determines his residence. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 7-1-25(A).

A. Evidence presented at the election protest hearing supports the Commission's finding that John David met the qualifications of a candidate for council.

At the February 6, 2023 election protest hearing, Appellant produced no witnesses other than his mother, Ms. Isom, who made reference to her previously-submitted documentation. **(ROA 209-210.)** Before the Commission at the February 6, 2023 election protest hearing was evidence of Mr. David's residency.

Exhibit D at the election protest hearing included Mr. David's statement of candidacy, which was signed and dated November 18, 2022. **(ROA 236.)** In addition to attesting to the validity of his name and that he had never be convicted of or pled guilty or nolo contendere to violations of South Carolina election laws, Mr. David affirmed that he "met, or will meet by the time of the General or Special election or as otherwise required by law, the qualifications to hold this office. I the undersigned, certify that I am a legal resident and a registered voter of the Town of Atlantic Beach,

South Carolina. I sign this statement under the penalty of perjury.” (ROA 236.) Mr. David also listed an Atlantic Beach property as his address and provided his voter registration number. (ROA 236.)

Appellant, without citing to any authority in support, appears to contend that because this statement of candidacy is “self-serving” and not notarized, it is not evidence of Mr. David’s residency. This assertion is a thinly-veiled attempt to have this Court delve into the weight and credibility of the evidence before the Commission. Notwithstanding that such an argument is inappropriate for this Court’s standard of review, the statement of candidacy, one of which was also signed by Appellant, was signed by Mr. David under penalty of perjury and by a receiving authority. And, Appellant does not address the fact that this Statement also contained Mr. David’s voter registration number.

Moreover, the decision on the provisional ballots by the Commission at the February 2, 2023 provisional ballot and canvassing hearing of the run-off constitutes a final decision. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-830 (“When the challenger appears or produces witnesses or evidence in support of the challenge, the authority in charge must proceed to hear and determine the question. Its decision is final.”). Given that the validity of Mr. David’s ballot was decided—particularly on the basis of his residency—at the February 2, 2023 provisional ballot and canvassing hearing for the run-off election, that finding by the same Commission was a final decision, and Appellant offered no new evidence at the election protest hearing.

Accordingly, although Appellant disagrees with the weight given and the credibility determined as to the statement of candidacy and prior decision of the Commission at the provisional ballot and canvassing hearing, there did exist evidence to support the Commission’s Order and Report following the election protest hearing.

B. Evidence submitted at the provisional ballot and canvassing hearing further supports the Commission’s finding that John David met the qualifications of a candidate for council.

Appellant attempts to use his election contest as a vehicle for reasserting his mother’s arguments concerning the validity of Mr. David’s ballot. According to Appellant, and without citing to any authority, the Commission “committed an error of law” when it did not consider Appellant’s mother’s evidence.

First and foremost, the Commission was under no obligation to reconsider a final decision it had already determined, particularly when no new evidence was presented at the February 6, 2023 hearing, and the evidence referenced was not properly admitted. In other words, Appellant complains that the Commission did not expressly admit his mother’s exhibits at the election protest hearing when deciding whether Mr. David was a resident and thereby, qualified as a candidate, but that issue had already been ruled upon and the exact same evidence considered at the February 2, 2023 provisional ballot and canvassing hearing. Having a final ruling as to the validity of Mr. David’s ballot on the basis of his residency, and, with no new evidence presented before it at the February 6, 2023 election protest hearing challenging Mr. David’s qualification on the same grounds, the Commission correctly denied Appellant’s election protest. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 7-13-830 (“When the challenger appears or produces witnesses or evidence in support of the challenge, the authority in charge must proceed to hear and determine the question. *Its decision is final.*”) (emphasis added).

Thus, Appellant’s argument is truly one concerning the Commission’s finding at the February 2, 2023 provisional ballot and canvassing hearing. Notwithstanding, the record supports the Commission’s denial of the election protest even considering the evidence presented at the provisional ballot and canvassing hearing. Specifically, Mr. David provided the Commission his driver’s license and voter registration card for examination, which reflected his Atlantic Beach, South Carolina

address, and Mr. David testified he resided within the district for more than thirty days prior to registering to vote, Atlantic Beach was his domicile, and he intended to return to Atlantic Beach any time he left. *Cf. Nagy v. Nagy-Horvath*, 273 S.C. 583, 586, 257 S.E.2d 757, 759 (1979) (“[D]omicile’ means the place where a person has his true, fixed and permanent home and principal establishment, to which he has, whenever he is absent, an intention of returning. The true basis and foundation of domicile is the intention . . . of residence.”) (quoting *Gasque v. Gasque*, 246 S.C. 423, 426, 143 S.E.2d 811, 812 (1965)) (internal quotation marks omitted). The Commission received and reviewed documents submitted by Ms. Isom at provisional ballot and canvassing hearing for the run-off on February 2, 2023, determined the weight and credibility of Ms. Isom and the documents she submitted, and nonetheless, found that the record supported the Commission’s determination at the provisional ballot and canvassing hearing and the election protest.

Nonetheless, pursuant to the Order and Report of the Commission entered February 13, 2023, the Commission noted the previous challenge to Mr. David’s ballot at the provisional ballot and canvassing hearing for the run-off on February 2, 2023. **(ROA 006.)** Furthermore, the record supports that the Commission—made up of the same three individuals—did consider the evidence submitted by Ms. Isom at the provisional ballot and canvassing hearing on February 2, 2023, just *four days* prior to the election protest hearing. Appellant would have the Court disregard the reality of the Commission’s consideration of Mr. David’s residency and overturn an election on the basis of an alleged mere technicality—which the Commission does not concede. Ultimately, the Commission was presented with Ms. Isom’s arguments and exhibits concerning Mr. David’s residency, and delving into those exact documents again would have no effect on the Commission’s ruling as to Mr. David’s qualifications as a candidate. *Cf. Taylor*, 363 S.C. at 15, 609 S.E.2d at 503-04 (declining to “impose standards for written orders on election commissions beyond those imposed by statute

[because] [i]t is within the plenary power of the Legislature, not this Court, to promulgate election standards or enact statutory election requirements which address the necessity or substance of written orders issued by an election commission”). “[W]hatever doesn’t make any difference, doesn’t matter.” *Watson & Howell Builders v. Billingsley*, 310 S.C. 39, 41, 425 S.E.2d 43, 44 (Ct. App. 1992) (quoting *McCall v. Finley*, 294 S.C. 1, 362 S.E.2d 26 (Ct. App. 1987)).⁶

Thus, the circuit court—which had no authority to take testimony or conduct a *de novo* hearing—did not err in accepting the factual findings of the Commission as supported by the evidence or finding no error of law to warrant a reversal of the election. *Taylor*, 363 S.C. at 17, 609 S.E.2d at 504 (citing *Butler*, 328 S.C. at 248, 493 S.E.2d at 843; *Blair v. City of Manning*, 345 S.C. 141, 144, 546 S.E.2d 649, 651 (2001)). As such, this Court should affirm the circuit court’s order.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should affirm the circuit court’s order.